1. On this day 14 August 2005, Telok Ayer Chinese Methodist Church celebrates the 80th Anniversary of its building at 235 Telok Ayer Street. The founder of Methodist Church,  John Wesley once said: “The world is my parish”.  Indeed, the building of Telok Ayer Church is part of this Wesleyan vision because the origin of Telok Ayer Chinese Methodist Church can be traced to a Methodist missionary from a far away land, that is America.  

2. He is Dr. Benjamin West. 

3. Dr. Benjamin West came to Singapore in 1889 to set up the first Chinese Methodist Church in Singapore.  This is the beginning of Telok Ayer Chinese Methodist Church. This picture shows Dr. and Mrs West.

4. … and their son Harry West as in this picture.

5. The Church, however, did not begin at Telok Ayer Street, but at Upper Nanking Street, where Dr. West opened his clinic which also served as a mission centre. Sunday worships started in August 1889.

6. In 1905, the congregation moved from Upper Nanking Street to the present day Boon Tat Street, once known as Japan Street.

7. It was only until 1913 that there was a plan to move the church to the present day location at Telok Ayer Street.  A piece of land was bought at this location.

8. Rev Sullivan, the then District Superintendent of Singapore initiated the purchase of the land.
9. Initially, a tent was built on this land, but the tent soon collapsed and the church temporarily moved to Fairfield Methodist Girls’ School at Neil Road. 

10. Meanwhile, a chapel constructed of wood and corrugated iron was then built on the site.  In September 1913, the infamous “Tin Church” was completed and named Methodist Mission Centre. The church grew rapidly and soon the place was not enough to house the congregation, such that wooden walls had to be propped up with poles.

11. A building project was thus launched with the acquisition of more land on site in 1921. 

12. The foundation stone was laid. This was the ceremony held on 9 January, 1924.
13. This is the foundation stone which you can find today on the exterior wall of the church next to the main entrance.
14. Construction of the new building soon began.

15. The 3 storey building was completed in 1925. Look at the bell tower on top, which was an open pavilion. The sanctuary was declared open in April 1925 by the then Bishop Titus Lowe.  The then Colonial Secretary of Singapore, the Honorable Mr. Hose, officiated the opening of the Sanctuary’s doors. 

16. Two events of historical significance took place at Telok Ayer Church.

17. The first was the revival meetings conducted by Dr John Sung.  
18. This is Dr. Sung right in front of the Church building.

19. Look at the former CID Building at the background, behind Dr. Sung.
20. The second event was …..

21. ….. the first Malaya Chinese Mission Conference held at Telok Ayer Church in 1937.

22. Let’s bring you to a brief tour of the Church Sanctuary. There were two side rooms known as the vestry rooms at the pulpit area in the early days.

23. Look at the entrance door of one of the vestry rooms right behind the choir.  This vestry room is on the left side of the pulpit area.

24. This is part of the same vestry room seen from the pulpit in 1935 at Dr. Sung’s revival meeting.  Look at the top of the wall enclosure of the vestry room near the interpreter Mdm Goh Cheng Leng.

25. Now take a look at the Chinese characters in the Sanctuary which are of great significance.  There are six on the side walls, 3 on each side.  Each of the words has a double meaning one based on biblical teaching, and the other on Chinese moral values.  

26. One the left wall of the Sanctuary, starting from the front, we see “Sheng” which means Holiness as God’s perfection and Sages as a Human’s benchmark.

27. Next, we see “Qian” which means Piety towards God and Sincerity to our peers.
28. Next, we see “Gong” meaning Reverence to God and Submission to Authority.

29. On the right wall of the Sanctuary, beginning from the front, we first see “Ren” which means Patience to God and Tolerance to one another among us.

30. Next, we see “Ren” which means Love and Mercy from God, and Humanity and Justice to our Society.

31. Finally, we see “Xin” which means Faith and Trust to God, and Honesty and Integrity in our Interaction with others.

32. Above all, the guiding principle of these Christian virtues are deep rooted in our great principle, namely, “Love is Love” captured in the four Chinese characters right in front of the pulpit.

33. However, do you know that these four characters were hidden from us for some 50 years?  This picture was taken soon after the completion of the church.

34. In 1935 when Dr. Sung spoke in the revival meeting, the words were there.

35. But in 1950 when the church redecorated the pulpit area, the four characters were covered under a white board backdrop.

36. Further work was done in late 1960s or early 1970s with timber wooden backdrop.

37. This is a Lunar New Year festive decoration of the sanctuary in 1980s.
38. A major event took place in 1989 when we celebrated our centenary.  On 23 March 1989, the Government announced that the Telok Ayer Church Building be preserved as a national monument.

39. This plaque declaring the preservation of the church building as a National Monument can be found on the exterior wall of the church next to the main entrance.

40. The church soon launched a major renovation project to restore the church to its original glory.

41. Restoration and renovation project started in 1993 after a few years of planning and fund raising.

42. It was during the renovation, to our delights, that the four Chinese characters “Shangdi Shi Ai” were found intact …

43. … after the backdrop behind the pulpit area was demolished.
44. …..
45. The four Calligraphic characters “Shangdi shi ai” were repaired and restored. 

46. The renovation project was completed in 1995 and a thanksgiving celebration service held in August 1995.

47. In addition to the Sanctuary, let’s take a quick look at the architectural features of the church.
48. First the pavilion on the roof top of the building.
49. Pavilion on the roof top was a unique design in olden days ….

50. …. in such buildings as Eu Court in Singapore which was at stamford Road and is no more today.

51. Telok Ayer Church is the first Chinese church in Singapore that has this feature.

52. Note that the pavilion in the early days was actually a bell tower.  Today it has turned into a prayer room.

53. And this was the bell that was hung in the bell tower.

54. Next, an interesting feature of the church is the alternation of columns and piers at the five footway.

55. Columns are round pillars while piers are rectangular pillars.  

56. Do you know that our church adopts this alternation design as found in many Europeans architectural designs such as this one.
57. Look here the alternation of columns and piers at the Five Foot Way of the church.  Are you aware of this alternation design? 

58. The columns in Telok Ayer Church, in particular, follow a German design . . ..
59. …  such as this. 

60. Look at the design similarity of our columns with that of the German Cathedral.

61. The next features are the articulated joints between columns and beams.

62. Here is an example of the column and bean joint …

63. … in the social hall on the ground floor….

64. … and a close up look.

65. There are other architectural features which the church took pain to restore under the URA guidelines.
66. Such as the support structure at the third floor balcony.

67. …and the arch windows such as this one with cast iron water downpipe.

68. The whole project took several years of meticulous planning and research. It took two years to complete the renovation work. For this effort, Telok Ayer Church was awarded this Architectural Heritage Award in 1996 …

69. … which can be found on the church exterior wall next to the main entrance.

70. So from 1925, when this church building was built ….
71. … to the present day in 2005, …
72. …the Church building has gone through 80 years of history.

73. Since its establishment in 1889, through the construction of this building in 1925, ….

74. …to the present day, the Church has served as a beacon in the downtown business area of Telok Ayer, for the last 116 years.

75. And rightly, it is the time for celebration!  May the Lord continue to bless this church at this location as well as its second location of TA2.

76. Thank you for your attention.
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